STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Dorchester County

Honorable Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTIAN ANTHONY HIMES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000870

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
OCT 23 2018
SC Court of Appeals

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred in finding that Appellant was not eligible for or entitled to immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act?

II.

Whether, in the interest of judicial economy, this Court should vacate the five year sentence imposed for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime where S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 expressly provides that the five-year sentence for such an offense “does not apply in cases where . . . a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime” and Appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment without parole for the murder offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 1, 2016, the Dorchester County Grand Jury returned indictments against Appellant Christian Himes for murder and for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R.590-593.

On April 3-6, 2017, Himes proceeded to trial before the Honorable Maité Murphy and a jury. Himes was represented by Michelle Williams and Pierce Wehman, and the State was represented by Donald Sorenson and Ryan Templeton of the Dorchester County Solicitor's Office. R. 1. Judge Murphy denied Himes' motion for immunity from prosecution following a pre-trial hearing and her ruling remained unchanged when the motion was renewed during the trial. R. 184, l. 21 – 188, l. 3; R. 416, l. 18 – 417, l. 6; R. 507, ll. 14-21.

The jury convicted Himes of both indicted offenses. R. 560. Judge Murphy sentenced Himes to life imprisonment without parole for murder and to a concurrent term of five years for the weapons offense. R. 570; R. 594-595.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court erred in finding that Appellant was not eligible for or entitled to immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act.

Introduction

Appellant Christian Himes was involved in a romantic relationship with decedent David Ham's estranged wife, Heather Ham. R. 11, ll. 3-24, R. 116, l. 23 – 119, l. 22; R. 229, l. 2 – 231, l. 7; R. 403, l. 19 – 404, l. 8; R. 442, ll. 7-22; R. 465, l. 21 – 466, l. 16. During their eighteen-month separation, David and Heather's two minor children spent the week with Heather and weekends with David. R. 49, l. 19 – 50, l. 9; R. 65, l. 15 – 66, l. 14; R. 226, l. 23 – 228, l. 10. On Friday, October 30, 2015, two nights prior to the shooting incident, David learned of the relationship between Heather and Himes and sent a text message to Heather to tell her boyfriend "don't let me catch him slipping." R. 12, l. 7 – 13, l. 2; R. 50, l. 10 – 52, l. 2; R. 71, l. 11 – 73, l. 12; R. 125, l. 7 – 126, l. 4; R. 231, l. 8 – 234, l. 15; R. 236, l. 6 – 237, l. 17; R. 295, l. 22 – 296, l. 10; R. 451, l. 8 – 452, l. 22; R. 589. On Sunday, November 1, 2015, Himes arrived back at the apartment while David was dropping the children off. Heather, who was not ready for the two men to meet and feared a confrontation, caught Himes outside and asked him to leave because David was still there. Himes complied and let what he thought was more than enough time pass before returning to the apartment. R. 13, l. 3 – 17, l. 6; R. 20, l. 17 – 23, l. 7; R. 52, 24 – 53, l. 23; R. 127, l. 18 – 131, l. 7; R. 149, l. 10 – 150, l. 16; R. 243, l. 20 – 250, l. 2; R. 449, l. 20 – 450, l. 16; R. 454, l. 24 – 455, l. 25.

As Himes entered the covered breezeway between the apartments at approximately 10:00 p.m., he saw David leaving the apartment. David, who had a blood alcohol content of 0.19, blocked Himes' path into the apartment and told Himes that he was not going inside and would

not be the person to raise his kids. Himes backed down the steps and into the grassy area between the apartment building and the parking lot. The two men argued and David began reaching in his pockets. Himes was unsure if David was reaching for a weapon, having been told by Heather that she had seen David with a gun in the past, so Himes drew his own loaded pistol from his pocket. David responded: "Come on homeboy. Oh, you think you're bad because you got a gun. Come on." Himes told David to "back up" three times but instead David lunged toward him. Himes fired a single shot, which struck David in the neck. R. 17, ll. 7- 20, l. 16; R. 24, ll. 5-6; R. 25, ll. 7-14; R. 28, l. 25 – 30, l. 16; R. 39, ll. 19-21; R. 55, l. 24 – 58, l. 13; R. 85, l. 9 – 87, l. 19; R. 121, l. 16 – 122, l. 11; R. 131, l. 8 – 136, l. 12; R. 151, l. 15 – 159, l. 24; R. 250, l. 3 – 254, l. 16; R. 449, ll. 8-19; R. 456, l. 1 – 462, l. 22.

As will be discussed more fully *infra*, Judge Murphy erred in ruling that Himes was not entitled to immunity under subsection (C) of the Protection of Persons and Property Act because the altercation with David began outside of the apartment where Himes was an invited guest and continued into a grassy area. R. 185, ll. 5-11; see S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) ("A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked *in another place where he has a right to be . . .* has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself" (emphasis added)). Judge Murphy further erred in determining that even if the Act was applicable, Himes failed to prove a valid case of self-defense. She found that Himes was at fault in bringing on the difficulty because he was in a relationship with a married woman and because he was late returning Heather's car, neither of which are the type of conduct that makes one lose their right to self-defense. Additionally, her findings regarding both what Himes subjectively believed and what a reasonable person would have believed, ignored

Himes' right to act on appearances and misstated Himes' testimony. Further, she erred in considering whether Himes had the ability to retreat, as the duty to retreat element of self-defense is not applicable in an immunity hearing. R. 185, l. 11 – 188, l. 3. Lastly, Judge Murphy erred in sentencing Himes to a concurrent five-year term for the weapons offense when she had already sentenced him to life without parole for murder. R. 570; R. 594 - 595; see S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A).

Standard of Review

A claim of immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review. State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Id.

Relevant Facts

Evidence Presented

The trial court denied the defense's motion for immunity from prosecution following a pre-trial hearing. R. 184, l. 21 – 188, l. 3. Judge Murphy heard from six witnesses, all called by the defense, including: the chief investigating officer, detective Mike Weaver; estranged wife of decedent and girlfriend of Himes, Heather Ham; police officer and neighbor, Matthew Brooks; crime scene technician, Wade Rollings; forensic toxicologist, Tim Grambow; and Christian Himes. R. 9 – 162.

In August 2015, Christian Himes called his prior counselor, Heather Ham (hereinafter "Heather"), in hopes of getting her assistance following his recent release from the Youthful Offender Division of the Department of Corrections. Heather was Himes' lead counselor at New

Beginnings, a residential group home where Himes was placed in 2008 when he was fourteen or fifteen years old. R. 115, l. 1 – 117, l. 8; R. 228, l. 21 – 229, l. 15; R. 259, l. 18 – 261, l. 9; R. 440, l. 13 – 444, l. 20; R. 463, ll. 15-23; R. 464, l. 10 – 465, l. 3; R. 565, ll. 11-16. On or about September 20, 2015, twenty years old Himes and Heather met in person. Heather began helping Himes look for better employment than the fast food job he had in Columbia, and their relationship quickly became romantic. When he was in Summerville, Himes resided with Heather and her two children, who were eight and four years old, in apartment 12-D. He would return to Columbia periodically for work and to report to his probation agent. R. 41, l. 20 – 42, l. 9; R. 81, ll. 2-13; R. 117, l. 9 – 119, l. 22; R. 229, l. 16 – 231, l. 7; R. 268, l. 7 – 269, l. 15; R. 442, ll. 7-22; R. 444, l. 21 – 446, l. 6; R. 465, l. 4 – 466, l. 16.

Heather had been living separate and apart from her husband, David Ham (hereinafter “David”) for eighteen months. There was no formal custody order, but Heather kept their sons during the week and David would keep them for most or all of the weekend. According to Heather, they discussed the potential for a reconciliation at various times. R. 42, ll. 10-24; R. 49, l. 19 – 50, l. 9; R. 65, l. 15 – 68, l. 2; R. 226, l. 23 – 228, l. 10; R. 248, ll. 10-18; R. 403, l. 19 – 404, l. 1. Himes would stay hidden in the back bedroom or bathroom when David would pick up and drop off the children at the apartment. That process usually only lasted five to fifteen minutes. R. 129, l. 23 – 130, l. 6; R. 449, l. 10 – 450, l. 16. Heather was afraid of how David would react if and when he learned about Himes. R. 52, ll. 3-12; R. 122, ll. 1-11.

On Friday, October 30, 2015, David was already at the apartment waiting on them, so Heather dropped Himes off at a nearby bank before returning to the apartment to meet David. Soon after, Heather began receiving angry text messages from David, including one that said: “Sweet. I care, you don’t. What I needed to hear. Tell your BF don’t let me catch him slipping.”

R. 12, l. 7 – 13, l. 2; R. 50, l. 10 – 52, l. 2; R. 69, l. 2 – 73, l. 12; R. 125, l. 7 – 126, l. 4; R. 231, l. 8 – 234, l. 15; R. 589. Though David claimed that he saw Heather drop Himes at the bank, Heather thought it was more likely that her oldest son told David about Himes. R. 295, l. 22 – 296, l. 10.

Heather was sitting in Himes' lap on the porch when she received the text message. Himes thought that the message was a threat, meaning that David was going to "come at [him]" and "attack him." Himes asked Heather if David could fight and if he needed a gun.¹ Heather told him that David could fight, and claimed that she did not take seriously the discussion of whether he needed a gun. R. 52, ll. 13-18; R. 125, ll. 7-24; R. 236, l. 6 – 237, l. 17; R. 451, l. 8 – 452, l. 22. Heather had previously shared with Himes that David once punched her in the mouth so hard that it left a permanent scar on her lip. Additionally, David had tried to drag her out of the house in front of their children, which she told Himes was the incident that precipitated their separation. She also mentioned that David had a gun in the past. R. 28, l. 25 – 30, l. 16; R. 43, l. 2 – 46, l. 2; R. 119, l. 23 – 122, l. 11; R. 138, l. 9 – 139, l. 19; R. 448, l. 6 – 449, l. 19. Nevertheless, Heather kept her plans to go with David to take the children trick-or-treating on Saturday, October 31, 2015. Himes was admittedly disappointed that he was not able to join them but denied being angry over it. R. 68, l. 11 – 69, l. 1; R. 74, ll. 3-14; R. 143, l. 22 – 144, l. 15; R. 238, l. 2 – 239, l. 6; R. 467, ll. 17-25.

On Sunday, November 1, 2015, Himes borrowed Heather's car to give his friend, Akmir, a ride to West Ashley in Charleston. Himes knew that Heather was supposed to pick her children up from David that night such that he needed to have the car back by 8:00 p.m. Instead

¹ Heather Ham was the alleged victim of an unrelated sexual assault the weekend prior. Himes purchased a gun off of the street the following Tuesday but did not tell Heather about it. It was that gun that he ultimately used to fire the single shot at David Ham. R. 25, l. 15 – 27, l. 4; R. 126, l. 5 – 127, l. 17; R. 140, l. 12 – 143, l. 6; R. 150, l. 22 – 151, l. 14; R. 446, l. 7 – 447, l. 22.

Himes was just leaving West Ashley to return to Summerville at that time and did not return to the apartment until between 9:00 and 9:30 p.m. R. 13, l. 3 – 14, l. 22; R. 36, l. 24 – 37, l. 10; R. 77, l. 5 – 79, l. 4; R. 127, l. 18 – 128, l. 9; R. 144, l. 16 – 149, l. 15; R. 243, l. 20 – 245, l. 24; R. 453, l. 4 – 454, l. 9; R. 474, l. 11 – 481, l. 25. Himes had borrowed Heather's car and been late returning it in the past, so he anticipated that she would be upset that he did not come back on time. R. 454, ll. 10-15; R. 482, ll. 1-15.

Because Heather was unable to pick them up without her car, David brought the children to Heather's apartment between 9:00 and 9:30 p.m. R. 37, ll. 11-17; R. 52, l. 24 – 53, l. 10; R. 79, l. 5 – 80, l. 20; R. 246, l. 15 – 247, l. 21. Though Heather claimed that David did not appear intoxicated, forensic toxicologist Tim Grambow determined that David's blood alcohol content at time of his death was 0.19%. That level of alcohol consumption can lead to increased aggression. R. 25, ll. 7-14; R. 62, ll. 9-15; R. 106, l. 25 – 111, l. 14; R. 295, ll. 14-16.

As Himes was walking up to the apartment door, Heather came outside and told him that David was there and Himes needed to leave. Himes complied and went to a nearby gas station. He estimated that he spent thirty to forty-five minutes there. R. 14, l. 23 – 15, l. 18; R. 16, l. 24 – 17, l. 6; R. 22, l. 19 – 23, l. 2; R. 54, l. 11 – 55, l. 23; R. 128, l. 10 – 129, l. 14; R. 150, ll. 5-16; R. 249, l. 2 – 250, l. 2; R. 454, l. 24 – 455, l. 21. Himes asked the police to obtain the surveillance footage from the gas station, which would have confirmed the exact times, but after two attempts officers abandoned any efforts to obtain the recording. R. 15, l. 19 – 16, l. 13; R. 407, l. 11 – 409, l. 1.

David stayed at the apartment an unusually long time that night and returned back inside after purportedly leaving his keys behind. R. 20, l. 17 – 21, l. 10; R. 53, l. 11 – 54, l. 10; R. 55, l. 24 – 56, l. 13; R. 81, l. 23 – 83, l. 5; R. 247, l. 22 – 248, l. 18; R. 250, l. 6 – 251, l. 7; R. 294, l.

10 – 295, l. 13; R. 449, l. 20 – 450, l. 16. Himes returned to the apartment complex around 10:00 p.m., thinking that would surely have been enough time for David to be gone. Neither Heather nor Himes knew what kind of car David drove. R. 81, ll. 17-22; R. 129, l. 15 – 131, l. 7; R. 456, ll. 1-9; R. 458, l. 25 – 459, l. 9. As Himes entered the breezeway between the apartments he saw David, who he recognized from photographs, leaving Heather’s apartment. Himes was immediately scared when he saw him. R. 17, l. 7 – 18, l. 11; R. 131, l. 8-25; R. 151, l. 15 – 152, l. 2; R. 258, l. 17 – 259, l. 1; R. 457, l. 15 – 458, l. 16. David asked Himes: “Are you Chris?” Himes responded “yeah,” but thinking a confrontation was about to begin, he told David that he did not want to do this because the kids were in the house. David used his body to block Himes from going in the apartment and told Himes to leave. Himes backed down the steps from the breezeway, off of the walkway, and into the grassy area. David continued to yell at Himes while moving toward him and reaching into his pocket. Himes did not know what David might have been reaching for, so Himes drew his own pistol from his pocket. R. 18, ll. 13-21; R. 39, ll. 19-21; R. 132, l. 1 – 134, l. 7; R. 135, l. 6 – 136, l. 12; R. 152, l. 3 – 157, l. 22; R. 251, l. 8 – 253, l. 11; R. 458, ll. 17-24; R. 459, l. 10 – 461, l. 10. David and Himes were approximately the same weight, but Himes was only 5 feet and 7 inches tall and David was 6 feet tall. R. 27, l. 15-21; R. 28, ll. 14-19.

Undeterred at the sight of the weapon, David responded: “Come on homeboy. Oh, you think you’re bad because you got a gun. Come on.” R. 19, ll. 9-16; R. 20, ll. 4-6; R. 56, ll. 17-24; R. 85, l. 9 – 86, l. 25; R. 253, ll. 12 -22; R. 490, ll. 17-24. Himes told David to “back up” three times but instead David lunged toward him. R. 19, l. 17-23; R. 20, ll. 7-14; R. 56, l. 25 – 57, l. 2; R. 87, ll. 1-5; R. 134, ll. 8-24; R. 157, l. 23 – 159, l. 22; R. 253, ll. 22-23; R. 461, l. 11 – 462, l. 6. Himes fired a single shot from his fully loaded weapon. R. 20, ll. 15-16; R. 87, ll. 6-7;

R. 134, l. 25 – 135, l. 2; R. 158, ll. 23-25; R. 253, ll. 24-25; R. 352, l. 4 – 353, l. 3; R. 460, l. 11 – 461, l. 10; R. 462, ll. 7-18; R. 491, ll. 3-17. The bullet struck David in the neck at a slightly downward angle. R. 321, l. 1 – 322, l. 6. Himes left in Heather's car but was soon stopped by police. Himes was cooperative with police, telling them that he was involved in the shooting and that the gun was in the passenger seat. Himes was emotional and crying but gave a statement to police that was consistent with his testimony at the immunity hearing and trial. R. 23, l. 15 – 21; R. 24, ll. 5-6; R. 28, ll. 14-19; R. 254, ll. 3-16; R. 339, l. 24 – 345, l. 13; R. 410, l. 13 – 415, l. 4; R. 462, ll. 19-25; R. 586-588.

Matthew Brooks, a police officer who lived in the apartment building next to Heather, overheard the arguing between David and Himes. He reported hearing a male voice say "you're not going back in that apartment," followed by a single gunshot. R. 92, l. 3 – 93, l. 10; R. 96, l. 7 – 97, l. 3. By the time that crime scene technician Wade Rollings arrived, David had been taken to the hospital. Two piles of clothing were left behind to mark where David was found, measuring approximately thirty-three to thirty-nine feet from the bottom step to the breezeway of Heather's apartment building. R. 97, l. 21 – 99, l. 11.

For the first few months that Himes was in jail following his arrest, Heather maintained communication with him. The defense confronted her with one letter to Himes, dated December 7, 2015. Heather claimed that she was "confused" at the time that she wrote the letter, but admitted writing:

But I feel responsible in some ways for what has happened. Only because I knew the way he would become enraged and how he reacts when he's angry. He has hurt many people physically, even other family members of his. I should have told him to leave sooner. But many people are afraid of him and I am one of those people. So I try to keep peace to prevent verbal, emotional, and physical abuse by him.

R. 47, l. 24 – 48, l. 18; R. 122, l. 20 – 125, l. 2; R. 263, l. 19 – 267, l. 8; R. 285, l. 4 – 290, l. 1; R. 577-583.

Arguments of Counsel

The defense argued that Himes met his burden of showing that he was entitled to immunity under the Act. Regarding the statutory factors, Himes was in a place where he had a right to be because he was staying with Heather at her apartment. He had borrowed her car and come back to return it and eat dinner. When he returned and Heather asked him to leave because David was there, it was only a temporary request, as she intended for Himes to return again with her car. R. 163, ll. 7-21. While Himes would not have been in lawful possession of a weapon otherwise, the defense contended that he was lawfully armed in self-defense. The defense noted that neither Heather nor Himes knew what car David drove that night, Himes left when requested, and that it was David who ultimately approached Himes and blocked his entry into the apartment. Himes backed up into the grass and only took out his gun because David was being so aggressive. Upon seeing the weapon, David stated that he was not in fear and, despite being told to back up three times, instead pursued Himes. It was only then that Himes fired a single shot. Thus, counsel argued that Himes' actions aimed at preventing the conflict rather than leading to it. R. 163, l. 7 – 165, l. 22; R. 168, ll. 11-17. Himes testified that he was in fear of serious bodily injury, taking into account his knowledge of David's past behavior, David reaching for something in his pockets, and the threatening text message sent just two days prior, essentially conveying that Himes needed to watch his back. R. 165, l. 23 – 166, l. 15.

Regarding whether a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief, defense counsel noted that a person is not required to wait until his adversary is on equal footing to act in self-defense and is entitled to act on appearances.

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