ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
The Honorable Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-000870

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTIAN ANTHONY HIMES,

APPELLANT.

RECEIVED

NOV 05 2018

SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit
140 N. Main Street, Suite 102
Summerville, South Carolina 29483

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).

"A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review." State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016)(citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)). "Section 16-11-450 provides immunity from prosecution if a person is found to be justified in using deadly force under the Act." Curry, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. "Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant's

entitlement to the Act's immunity. This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat.”⁴ Id. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (citing State v. Cutter, 261 S.C. 140, 199 S.E.2d 61 (1973)). The appellate court is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. Review is limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. Id. The appellate court may not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but must determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829; see generally Felts v. Richland County, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991) (“In law actions, the lower court must be affirmed where there is “any evidence” to support its findings.”).

⁴ Self-defense is a complete defense. If established, you must find the defendant not guilty. There are four elements required by law to establish self-defense in this case. First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance. If, however, the defendant was on his own premises he had no duty to retreat before acting in self-defense. These are the elements of self-defense.

State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984)

The denial of immunity should be affirmed under Rule 220(c), SCACR. The record clearly shows Himes was not entitled to immunity under the Act.

A. S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C) did not apply to Himes.

Himes was engaged in an unlawful activity prior to and during the confrontation with the victim. First, Himes was in unlawful possession of a firearm at the time of the confrontation. Himes acknowledged as much at the Duncan hearing. (R. 151). Himes testified he had a prior burglary conviction.⁵ (R. 137; see R. 151). By statute, Himes was proscribed from possessing a firearm. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-500 ("It is unlawful for a person who has been convicted of a violent crime, as defined by Section 16-1-60, that is classified as a felony offense, to possess a firearm or ammunition within this State.").

Also, prior to the shooting, Himes also unlawfully pointed and presented the firearm at the victim. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-410 ("It is unlawful for a person to present or point at another person a loaded or unloaded firearm."). By Himes account of the confrontation, he presented his pistol well before the victim took any action that could be considered threatening. Himes admitted he did not see a weapon on the victim. (R. 155). Further, the victim never made any verbal threats against Himes. (R. 155). At most, the victim merely told Himes that he was not going into the apartment where the victim's two children were. (R. 155). Himes further admitted the victim never had any physical contact with him. Himes pulled out his pistol and pointed the gun at the victim before the victim took any aggressive action towards Himes. Himes' testimony reflects

⁵ Himes was convicted of second degree burglary in 2014. (R. 421). Second-degree burglary is classified as a violent offense. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-60 (2017).

that the lunge by the victim towards Himes may have been in response to the fact Himes was pointing a gun at the victim. (See R. 134-135).

Himes' contention that he was lawfully armed in self-defense even though he was in unlawful possession of the pistol is not supported by the record. Himes' reliance upon State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999), is misplaced because Burriss is inapplicable in this case. In Burriss, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a person could be acting lawfully, even if he is in unlawful possession of a weapon, if he was entitled to arm himself in self-defense at the time of the shooting. 334 S.C. at 265, 513 S.E.2d at 109. In Burriss, the defendant was threatened and then attacked by the victim and another male. Id. at 258, 513 S.E.2d at 106. After being pushed to the ground, the defendant drew a gun and fired two shots at the ground. Id. at 258-59, 513 S.E.2d at 106. Both men backed away. Id. at 259, 513 S.E.2d at 106. As the defendant attempted to get off the ground, one of the attackers moved to attack the defendant again. Id. The defendant picked up his gun, and it went off, killing the victim. Id. The Supreme Court found that the defendant was lawfully armed in self-defense. Id. at 269, 513 S.E.2d at 109. Since there was evidence that the firing of the gun was not intentional, the defendant in Burriss was entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge. Id.

This case is distinguishable from Burriss in several respects. First, Himes was not lawfully armed because of an attack from the victim. Himes was not attacked by the victim. There was no testimony or evidence presented at the immunity hearing that indicated the victim had threatened Himes with a weapon, let alone attack Himes physically. By Himes' own account, the victim never made physical contact with Himes.

Himes also indicated that he may not have believed the victim had a gun. Unlike the defendant in Burriss, Himes was never in a vulnerable position in relation to the victim. Second, Himes had the pistol not because of a fear of attack from the victim, but instead because of the prior sexual assault Heather suffered from a mutual acquaintance the week before.

Altogether, Himes failed to establish that §440(C) applied to his case. The denial of immunity was warranted.

B. Himes was not acting in self-defense

Himes was not entitled to immunity because the circuit court reasonably found Himes' actions in the shooting were not an act of self-defense.

1. Himes was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

Himes was not entitled to immunity under the Act because he could not establish a credible case that he was acting in self-defense when he shot Ham. First, Himes was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. In a more general sense, Himes was responsible for the victim being at the apartment complex in the first place. Himes was aware that Heather needed to pick up her children from the victim that Sunday evening when he drove her car earlier in the afternoon. (R. 127-128, R. 147-149). Despite having that knowledge, he failed to return the car in a timely fashion. The victim thus had to bring the children to Heather's apartment.

More importantly to Himes' claim of self-defense, Himes actively engaged in the verbal confrontation with the victim prior to the shooting. Himes admitted that he engaged in a shouting argument with the victim prior to the shooting. (R. 132). Himes escalated the conflict by pulling out his pistol and pointing it at the victim. (R. 133-134).

By Himes' own admission, the victim did not lunge at Himes until well after Himes pointed the pistol at the victim. (R. 134-135, 159). These actions by Himes reflect that he was at fault in bringing on the difficulty.

“[O]ne who provokes or initiates an assault cannot escape criminal liability by invoking self-defense” State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999) (quoting Ferdinand S. Tinio, Comment Note: Withdrawal, After Provocation of Conflict, As Reviving Right Of Self-Defense, 55 A.L.R.3d 1000, 1003 (1974)). “Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide.” Jackson 384 S.C. 29, 36, 681 S.E.2d 17, 20 (Ct.App.2009)(quoting Bryant, supra). An accused who provokes or initiates an assault cannot claim self-defense unless he both withdraws from the conflict and communicates his withdrawal by word or act to his adversary. Jackson, 384 S.C. at 29, 681 S.E.2d at 20.

Altogether, the record supported the trial court's determination that Himes was at fault in bringing on the difficulty. Since he was at fault, he cannot establish he was acting in self-defense. As a result, he is not entitled to immunity under the Act.

2. Himes did not believe he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury.

There was also evidence in the record to support the circuit court's finding that Himes did not believe he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury. As noted by the circuit court, Himes testified the victim never threatened to kill him, shoot him, or stab him. (R. 155). Also, Himes indicated he did not believe the victim had a gun. (R. 135, 155).

As noted by Himes, “[a] person has the right to act on appearances, even if the person's belief is ultimately mistaken.” State v. Scott, Op. No. 27834 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 29, 2018)(Shearouse Adv. Sh. 35, p. 38)(quoting State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 501, 716 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2011)(internal citation omitted). Himes contention that he was acting on appearances, however, was reasonably rejected by the circuit court. First, there was conflicting evidence and testimony at the hearing regarding whether Himes believed the victim was armed. Himes testified he told the investigator the victim was reaching around his pockets at some point during their confrontation. (R. 135). He also told the investigator that he did not believe the victim had a weapon. (R. 135, 155). The circuit court, in its role as the factfinder at the hearing, clearly resolved this conflict in finding Himes did not believe the victim had a weapon. Since there is evidence in the record to support this finding, the circuit court’s order denying immunity should be affirmed. See Scott, Op. No. 27834 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 29, 2018)(Shearouse Adv. Sh. 35, pp. 38, 40)

3. The trial court reasonably rejected Himes’ contention that his alleged belief he was in imminent danger was reasonable.

The trial court also reasonably found Himes did not establish his belief that he was in imminent danger was reasonable. First, the trial court’s factual findings are supported by the record. Although the victim was a little bit taller than Himes, there was not that much disparity in size. (R. 31, 132). The victim was not armed. (R. 33, 88). It appears that the defendant is the one that initially pointed the gun at the victim and not the other way around. (R. 133-134). The alleged "threat" as far as the text message is concerned can certainly be viewed in different ways. "Don't let your BF let me catch him slipping," could be interpreted in many different ways and certainly could reasonably not

be interpreted as a threat if it was not interpreted as a threat by the victim's spouse. During the hearing, however, Heather testified she did not interpret the text message as a threat. (R. 52). Altogether, the trial court's factual findings in assessing the reasonableness of Himes' belief are supported by the record.

The trial court's determination that Himes' asserted belief he was in imminent danger was not reasonable is supported by the hearing record overall. Himes' argument that he was afraid the victim would was unreasonably based upon the victim's prior interactions with Heather, and the text message. Heather testified she and the victim separated because the victim got physical with her during an argument. (R. 44). She noted that she had not had any other physical confrontations during the eighteen months they had been separated. (R. 67). Furthermore, as already noted, Heather did not believe the text message was threatening. The reasonableness of Himes' belief were also undermined by Himes' statement to Investigator Weaver that his fear was influenced more so by Himes' prior relationship with his father, who was physically, mentally, and emotionally abusive. (R. 32). This reference by Himes reflects his fear may not have emanated from so much from the actions of the victim, but instead from his individual experience, which would not be the same as a person of ordinary firmness. "[T]he abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow this court to reweigh the evidence or second-guess the trial court's assessment of witness credibility." State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct. App. 2014). Himes' argument essentially requests such a reassessment. The trial court's finding that Himes did not establish the third element of self-defense was reasonable.

Altogether, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Himes failed to establish he was acting in self-defense. As a result, he was not entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. The denial of immunity should be affirmed.

II. Himes' argument that his sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime should be vacated is not preserved for appellate review.

In his second argument on appeal, Himes contends his sentence of five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime should be vacated because it violates S.C. Code § 16-23-490. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A) states:

If a person is in possession of a firearm or visibly displays what appears to be a firearm or visibly displays a knife during the commission of a violent crime and is convicted of committing or attempting to commit a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60, he must be imprisoned five years, in addition to the punishment provided for the principal crime. This five-year sentence does not apply in cases where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime.

At trial, Himes did not object to the imposition of the sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (See R 570). As a general rule, an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. Issues not raised in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. State v. Hudgins, 319 S.C. 233, 460 S.E.2d 388 (1995)(defendant's claim that his due process rights were violated because he was not present at pretrial hearing during which trial judge decided to bring in jury from another county because of pretrial publicity was not preserved, where defendant did not object to his absence from pretrial hearing), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1096, 116 S.Ct. 821, 133 L.Ed.2d 764 (1996), overruled on other grounds by State v. Collins, 329 S.C. 23, 495 S.E.2d 202 (1998); Smith v. Phillips, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995) (but for very few exceptional situations, appellate court cannot address issue unless it was raised to, and ruled upon by, trial court); Schofield v. Richland County Sch. Dist., 316 S.C. 78, 447

S.E.2d 189 (1994) (issue not raised to or ruled upon by trial judge is not properly before Supreme Court on appeal).

Since this argument was not presented to the trial court, it is not preserved for appellate review.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny Himes' appeal and affirm his convictions for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.